
If you require an adjustment to enable you to participate or access the meeting, please 
contact the Democratic Services team at least 48 hours before the meeting. 

ASHFIELD DISTRICT COUNCIL  
 
 

Council Offices, 
Urban Road, 

Kirkby in Ashfield 
Nottingham 
NG17 8DA 

 

Agenda 
 
Scrutiny Panel A 
 
 

Date: Thursday, 15th July, 2021 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Venue: 
Council Chamber, Council Offices, Urban Road, 
Kirkby-in-Ashfield 

  

For any further information please contact: 
 

Lynn Cain 
 

l.cain@ashfield.gov.uk 
 

01623 457317 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

SCRUTINY PANEL A 

Membership 

 

Chairman: Councillor Dave Shaw 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Caroline Wilkinson 

 
Councillors:  
Jim Blagden Trevor Locke 
Lauren Mitchell Warren Nuttall 
David Walters  

 
 
 

FILMING/AUDIO RECORDING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be subject to filming or audio recording. If you have any queries 
regarding this, please contact Members’ Services on 01623 457317. 
 
 
 
 
 

SUMMONS 
 
You are hereby requested to attend a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel A to be held at the 
time/place and on the date mentioned above for the purpose of transacting the business 
set out below. 
 

 
Carol Cooper-Smith 
Chief Executive 



 

 

AGENDA Page 
 
1.   To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary or Personal Interests 
and/or Non-Registrable Interests.  
 
 

 

3.   To receive the minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 18 
February 2021.  
 
 

5 - 10 

4.   Scrutiny Review: Tenancy Support.  
 
 

11 - 22 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SCRUTINY PANEL A 
 

Virtual Meeting held on Thursday, 18th February, 2021 at 7.00 pm 
 
 

Present:  
 

Councillor Dave Shaw in the Chair; 

 Councillors Jim Blagden, Trevor Locke, 
Lauren Mitchell, Warren Nuttall, David Walters 
and Caroline Wilkinson. 
 

Officers Present: Lynn Cain, Mike Joy, Nicky Moss, 
Phil Warrington and Shane Wright. 
 

In Attendance: Councillor Dale Grounds. 

 
 

SA.23 Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary or Personal Interests and Non 
Disclosable Pecuniary/Other Interests 
 

 Councillors Jim Blagden and David Walters declared Non Disclosable 
Pecuniary/Other Interests due to their former service within the Armed Forces. 
 

 
SA.24 Minutes 

 
 RESOLVED 

that the minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 19 November 2020, be 
received and approved as a correct record. 
 

 
SA.25 Scrutiny Review: Veterans and Service Personnel 

 
 The Scrutiny Research Officer presented the final report in relation to the 

scrutiny review of Veterans and Service Personnel and took the Panel 
Members through each of the draft Cabinet recommendations, as outlined in 
the report. 
 
Members considered each recommendation in turn and on conclusion, both 
the Service Manager, Scrutiny and Democratic Services and the Scrutiny 
Research Officer placed on record the Panel’s appreciation to Mark Leek 
(founder of the Veterans Breakfast Club in Kirkby) and Gillian Welch (the 
Council’s Senior Community Engagement Officer) for their valuable 
contributions towards the review and attendance at previous meetings. 
 
RESOLVED 
that the following recommendations be approved and presented to the Cabinet 
meeting in March 2021: 
 
a) to further explore the possibility of expanding the e-training modules 

regarding the Armed Forces Covenant, Housing and Homelessness for 
frontline staff, across all sections of the Council; 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

b) to commend the work undertaken so far by the Council’s Senior 
Community Engagement Officer in supporting the Ashfield Armed Forces 
community; 

 
c) to explore the potential to designate an Armed Forces representative in 

each section of the Council; 
 
d) to support and continue to commit to achieving the MoD Gold Employer 

Recognition Award through the Defence Employee Recognition Scheme; 
 
e) to continue to develop a robust and purposeful Reservist Policy to assist 

and support employees as required; 
 
f) to commit to increasing awareness across the Council and embedding 

ongoing support for the local Armed Forces Community within the Council’s 
Corporate Plan; 

 
g) to develop an Armed Forces Welcome Pack designed to support the 

Armed Forces Community with the transition to civilian life in Ashfield. 
 

 
SA.26 Scrutiny Review: Tenancy Support 

 
 The Chairman introduced the new Tenancy Support review topic to the Panel 

and extended a warm welcome to the Council’s Service Manager, Housing 
Management & Tenancy Services, Nicky Moss and the Service Manager, 
Strategic Housing & Lettings, Phil Warrington. 
 
Both officers were in attendance at the meeting to offer their particular insights 
into the support being offered to tenants, both public and private, to ensure 
their tenancies remained viable and to avoid any possible evictions or 
homelessness issues due to rent arrears, anti-social behaviour (ASB) or 
unscrupulous landlords. 
 
The Service Manager, Housing Management & Tenancy Services gave an 
overview of her role in supporting Council tenants and managing rent arrears 
and income recovery, including general tenancy estate management once 
properties had been let through the Strategic Housing & Lettings Team. 
 
From 2014, the process for seeking and determining evictions had been 
shared between the Housing Management and Tenancy Service Team and 
the Community Safety Team.  The Community Safety Team predominately 
took charge of any evictions as a result of ASB with the Housing Management 
and Tenancy Service Team focussing on evictions due to rent arrears. 
 
However, eviction was always seen as a last result and the Council offered a 
variety of support measures to assist tenants with maintaining their tenancies.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



 

Money Management Service  
Money management advice and supports for tenants was invaluable in helping 
them maximise their income, budgeting and assisting with additional benefit 
claim applications as required.  This role also included a welfare element 
which saw officers assist tenants with applying and accessing charities and 
grant funding if applicable.   
 
Tenancy Sustainment 
Tenant support always commenced pre tenancy, with officers helping 
residents with affordability issues and initial set up of the property to make it 
habitable for moving in.  Many new tenants did not possess furniture and 
officers regularly sourced furniture and white goods to enable people to settle 
into their new homes.  
 
Officers also supported tenants to access the following: 
 

 adequate fuel services  

 foodbanks 

 support through the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB), British Legion and local 
charities 

 grant funding opportunities and welfare support funds 

 mental health services. 
 
Prevention of Eviction 
Part of the tenancy sustainment role was also to mitigate against any possible 
eviction risks as many tenants suffered mental health issues and struggled to 
cope with everyday life.  Currently officers were assisting many tenants with 
booking their appointments for the first dose of the Covid-19 vaccine alongside 
other supportive measures to protect health and wellbeing wherever possible. 
 
A current Performance Indicator (PI) for the Tenancy Sustainment Team was 
to ensure that 95% of new tenants remain in their tenancies past the 6 month 
introductory milestone and so far this target had always been met. 
 
However, there were many reasons why persons were evicted from properties 
and many of their needs could be complex and difficult to address.  Over the 
previous 12 months, 20 people had been evicted from Council properties as a 
result of rent arrears.  From a tenancy list of over 6, 500, this figure was 
extremely low and it was to be welcomed that the figure continued to fall year 
on year (24 evictions in 2019 and 37 in 2018). 
 
Members however, were asked to acknowledge that there was a big difference 
between tenants who couldn’t pay and tenants who wouldn’t pay and that 
there would always be a small element of people who would endeavour to 
abuse the system and avoid paying rent. 
 
A question and answer session ensued, and Members considered the 
following: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

 the impact on the Council, due to the current ban on evictions as a 
result of the pandemic and acknowledgement that there were some 
preliminary cases for seeking possession which had commenced prior 
to Covid-19, that were now on hold with rent arrears continuing to 
escalate 

 

 the impact of the pandemic on many households with tenants 
continuing to lose valuable jobs and their ability to pay rent 

 

 the situation regarding rent arrears within Ashfield and how the Council 
was currently managing to keep it stable with the majority of cases 
being as a result of Universal Credit (UC) debt 

 

 the excellent work undertaken by the Council’s Housing Officers to 
support tenants within Ashfield and the important role of Councillors in 
developing relationships with their local residents and being able to 
raise issues of concerns with officers as they arose 

 

 the effectiveness of the Council’s ‘Money Advisers’ and the 
achievement of preventing 73 people from being evicted during 2020, 
ensuring 52 tenants got access to adequate fuel services and many 
more tenants being successful in accessing grant and charity funding to 
increase their income 

 

 disappointment that the Government were not currently assisting local 
authorities with their levels of rent arrears and the fact that the Council 
were currently mapping the data and impact on a weekly basis to inform 
discussion in the future 

 

 the upsetting realisation that the situation was most probably going to 
worsen post Covid-19, with many further job losses to come due to the 
impact of the pandemic on national and local economies  

 

 acknowledgment that the Council still offered two ‘rent free catch up’ 
weeks, during any 12-month period, to all tenants including those 
managing previous rent arrears. 
 

The Service Manager, Strategic Housing & Lettings then gave an overview of 
his role which included the day to day management of lettings to new tenants, 
homelessness and private sector enforcement. 
 
From his perspective, it had been a particularly tough year for everyone.  
Rough sleepers had the added threat of contracting the virus alongside the 
other challenging issues they were having to face on a daily basis and 
incidences of domestic violence and parental evictions had also increased 
over the course of the pandemic. 
 
Many private sector tenants were struggling to pay rent and were having to 
face the increased threat of receiving S8 and S21 eviction notices including 
the additional fear of becoming homeless as a result of their financial 
difficulties.  Members were advised that these problems were escalating as the 
pandemic continued and officers would soon be seeing the effects of this 
distressing situation once the temporary ban on evictions was lifted. 

Page 8



 

 
Homelessness  
With regards to the prevention of homelessness, it was imperative that 
intervention came in the early stages rather than officers only becoming 
involved when tenants reached crisis point.  It was always better to start 
offering support and guidance to tenants who were £500 in arrears rather than 
trying to salvage a level of arrears in excess of £2,000.   
 
The Council offered support in the following ways: 
 

 encouraging people to join the Council’s Housing Register as soon as 
possible to ensure all their needs and difficulties were recorded and acted 
upon at an early stage 

 provision of an online triage process for homelessness enquiries 

 provision of urgent advice and support to tenants as required 

 access to funding to pay rent arrears to landlords in certain circumstances. 
 

Many private sector tenants have been struggling over the past 12 months and 
had contacted the Council for advice.  On the whole, most landlords were 
reasonable and acknowledged that even the best tenants could have 
difficulties at certain times in their lives.  As a result of this, many landlords did 
try and assist their tenants wherever possible to keep them in their tenancies 
and avoid eviction if at all possible. 
 
At the start of the pandemic the Government realised quickly that lockdown 
would make rough sleepers particularly vulnerable and did provide funding to 
enable local authorities to get people off the streets and into temporary 
accommodation.  This had worked well within Ashfield and the Council were 
currently in the process of recruiting an Outreach Officer to provide assertive 
outreach in order to try and engage or re- engage the homeless population 
into finding suitable accommodation, work and accessing services for any 
medical or mental health needs as required. 
 
The Council were also endeavouring to recruit a Landlord Liaison Officer.  
Unfortunately, the Council did not have enough housing stock to provide 
accommodation for all, so the officer would be responsible for tapping into the 
private sector to find suitable homes for all persons seeking housing 
assistance through the Council.   It would also enable the Council to catch 
people earlier in the system and meet their housing needs more quickly. 
 
A question and answer session again ensued, and Members considered the 
following: 
 

 acknowledgement that rents were higher in the Hucknall area 
 

 provision of the former ‘housing bond scheme’ and how the Council now 
accessed funding through a Prevention Scheme to assist private tenants 
with a cash deposit and/or rent in advance or by assisting them with 
applications for discretionary housing payment (DHP) as part of their 
Housing Benefit or Universal Credit claims 

 
 
 

Page 9



 

 the process for dealing with any persons presenting themselves to the 
Council as homeless including an initial assessment and then a series of 
tests to enable the Council to establish the person’s (or family’s) immediate 
needs 

 

 acknowledgement that it was more challenging to provide suitable 
accommodation for single person’s rather than families and in some 
situations only shared accommodation could be offered 

 

 how the Council’s Private Sector Enforcement Team carried out checks to 
establish if private sector rental properties on offer were up to an 
acceptable standard and acknowledgement that the Housing Liaison 
Officers were also trained to undertake checks to Housing Health and 
Safety Rating System (HHSRS) standards. 

 
To conclude the Service Manager, Scrutiny and Democratic Services thanked 
both Nicky Moss and Phil Warrington for attending the meeting and providing 
their expertise in relation to the Council’s provision of tenancy support.  Having 
heard all the information, Members were asked to consider how best the topic 
could be reviewed and to agree the most appropriate terms of reference.  
 
RESOLVED 
that the terms of reference for the ‘Tenancy Support’ review be considered and 
agreed at an informal meeting of the Scrutiny Panel in March 2021. 
 
 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.09 pm  
 

 
 
Chairman. 

 

Page 10



   

 

Report To: SCRUTINY PANEL A Date: 15 JULY 2021 

Heading: SCRUTINY REVIEW: TENANCY SUPPORT 

Portfolio Holder: NOT APPLICABLE 

Ward/s:  ALL 

Key Decision: NO 

Subject to Call-In: NO 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide Scrutiny Panel A Members with further information to 
progress the Scrutiny Review: Tenancy Support. As the previous formal meeting of Scrutiny Panel 
A was held back in February 2021, this report will include previous information considered by the 
Panel as a refresher. Questions raised by the Panel at the informal working group meeting held in 
March 2021. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

 
Members of the Panel are asked to; 
 

a. Review the topic objectives; 
 

b. Consider and discuss the additional information provided in the report as requested at 
the last meeting; 
 

c. Agree any amendments to the Terms of reference. 
 

 
Reasons for Recommendation(s) 
 
Tenancy Support was added as a topic to the Scrutiny Workplan 2020/2021 at the November 2020 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Alternative Options Considered 
 
No alternative options have been considered.  
 
Detailed Information 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



RESEARCH TO DATE 
 
Due to the length of time from the previous formal meeting of Scrutiny Panel A, please see below 
research considered to date  
 
Information for Tenants 
 
Various information is made available on the Council’s website under the housing section regarding 
tenancies. Please see the information below: 
 
Your Tenancy 
 
When you become a tenant, you will be given a tenancy agreement which sets out our 
responsibilities as your landlord, and your responsibilities as our tenant. You can find all the details 
of your tenancy in the tenant portal.  
 
Types of Tenancy  
 
There are two types of tenant: 
 

 Introductory Tenancy 
 
If you have not been a council tenant before you will be given an introductory tenancy. 
 
This is a temporary tenancy that lasts for 12 months. It means you have fewer rights than a secure 
tenant. It also means it is easier for us to evict you if we need to. 
 
Your tenancy will be reviewed at regular intervals to ensure that you are conducting your tenancy in 
a satisfactory manner. If you breach your tenancy, we may extend this period by another 6 months. 
 

 Secure Tenancy 
 
All introductory tenants will automatically become secure tenants on the first anniversary of the date 
of the start of their tenancy. This only happens if they have conducted their tenancy in a satisfactory 
manner.  
 
A secure tenancy gives you more rights. 
 
Rights and Responsibilities  
 
As your landlord we have some rights and responsibilities and as a tenant you have rights and 
responsibilities too. Your tenancy agreement will set these out for you. 
 
Your Rights 
 
As a tenant you have the right:  
 

 to be consulted about the way we manage your property and any changes that may be made 

 to make alterations or improvements with our written permission 

 to live in the property as your principle home 

 to exercise your legal rights as a tenant 

 to have any repairs that are our responsibility carried out 

Page 12



 to take on a lodger as long as we have granted permission. We will take into consideration 
the house make-up and the capacity of your home. 

 
Your Responsibilities  
 
As a tenant you have the responsibility: 
 

 to pay your rent and other charges on time 

 to keep the inside of your home and your garden in a satisfactory condition 

 to ensure your household/visitors/pets do not cause nuisance to your neighbours 

 to give us access to complete any repairs, annual service works or to allow employees and 
contractors to go about their duties 

 to raise awareness of repairs needed. Not to alter the property without written consent. 
Inform us of any struggles you face with your tenancy, so we can signpost you to the relevant 
support agencies 

 to adhere to your tenancy conditions to prevent court action being taken against you. 
 
Our Rights 
 
As a landlord we have the right: 
 

 to request access to the property to carry out inspection or repairs. We will give you 
reasonable notice of our intention, unless it is an emergency 

 ask the courts to end your tenancy if you break the conditions of your tenancy agreement. 
 
Our Responsibilities  
 
As a landlord we have the responsibility: 
 

 to consult with you about important changes to the management of your tenancy 

 to deal with your complaints 

 to maintain service standards 

 to ensure the tenancy agreement is being adhered to at all times 

 to act on any repairs that are our responsibility. 
 
Pre-action Protocol for Possession Claims by Social Landlords 
 
In adding this topic to the workplan, Members expressed an interest in understanding the 
procedures the Council must follow regarding evictions.  
 
Please see below the Government procedure for social landlord evictions.  
 
The Government have set out a Pre-Action protocol that describes the actions the Council, as social 
landlords, must take before issuing a possession claim against a tenant. This came into force on 13 
January 2020.  
 
Part 1: Aims and Scope of the Protocol 
 
This Protocol applies to residential possession claims in England and Wales brought by social 
landlords (such as local authorities and housing associations). This Part sets out the aims and 
scope of the protocol. Part 2 relates to claims which are based solely on rent arrears. Part 3 applies 

Page 13



to claims brought by social landlords where the court must, in principle, grant possession and where 
s89(1) Housing Act 1980 applies. The protocol does not apply to claims in respect of long leases. 
 
Part 2 reflects the guidance on good practice given to social landlords in the collection of rent 
arrears. It recognises that it is in the interests of both social landlords and tenants to ensure that 
rent is paid promptly and that difficulties are resolved, wherever possible, without court proceedings. 
 
Part 3 seeks to ensure that, in cases where human rights, public law or equality law matters are or 
may be raised, the necessary information is before the Court at the first hearing so that issues of 
proportionality may be dealt with summarily, if appropriate, or that appropriate directions for trial 
may be given. 
 
The aims of the protocol are: 
 

a. to encourage more pre-action contact and exchange of information between landlords and 
tenants. 
 

b. to enable the parties to avoid litigation by settling the matter, if possible; and 
 

c. to enable court time to be used more effectively if proceedings are necessary. 
 
Courts should take into account whether this protocol has been followed when considering what 
orders to make. Social landlords should also comply with guidance issued from time to time by the 
Regulator of Social Housing, the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government and, in 
Wales, the Welsh Ministers. 
 

a. If the landlord is aware that the tenant has difficulty in reading or understanding information 
given, the landlord should take reasonable steps to ensure that the tenant understands any 
information given. The landlord should be able to demonstrate that reasonable steps have 
been taken to ensure that the information has been appropriately communicated in ways that 
the tenant can understand. 

 
b. If the landlord is aware that the tenant is particularly vulnerable, the landlord should consider 

at an early stage– 
I. whether or not the tenant has the mental capacity to defend possession proceedings 

and the extent to which CPR 21 applies; 
II. whether or not any issues arise under the Equality Act 2010; and 

III. in the case of a local authority landlord, whether or not there is a need for a 
community care assessment in accordance with the Care Act 2014. 

 
Part 2: Possession Claims Based Upon Rent Arrears 
 
Initial contact 
 
If the tenant falls into arrears, the landlord should contact the tenant, as soon as reasonably 
possible, to discuss: the cause of the arrears; the tenant’s financial circumstances; the tenant’s 
entitlement to benefits; and repayment of the arrears. Where contact is by letter, the landlord should 
write separately to each named tenant. 
 
The landlord and tenant should try to agree affordable sums for the tenant to pay towards the 
arrears, based upon the tenant’s income and expenditure (where such information has been 
supplied in response to the landlord’s enquiries). The landlord should clearly set out, in pre-action 
correspondence, any time limits with which the tenant should comply. 

Page 14



 
The landlord should provide, on a quarterly basis, rent statements in a comprehensible format 
showing rent due and sums received for the past 13 weeks. The landlord should, upon request, 
provide the tenant with copies of rent statements in a comprehensible format, from the date when 
arrears first arose, showing all amounts of rent due, the dates and amounts of all payments made 
(whether through housing benefit, discretionary housing payments or directly by the tenant) and a 
running total of the arrears. 
 
If the tenant meets the appropriate criteria, the landlord should apply for arrears to be paid by the 
Department for Work and Pensions [‘DWP’] by deductions from the tenant’s benefit. 
 
The landlord should offer to assist the tenant in any claim that the tenant may have for housing 
benefit, discretionary housing payments or universal credit (housing element). 
 
Possession proceedings for rent arrears should not be started against a tenant who can 
demonstrate that – 
 

a. the local authority or DWP have been provided with all the evidence required to process a 
housing benefit or universal credit (housing element) claim. 
 

b. there is a reasonable expectation of eligibility for housing benefit or universal credit (housing 
element); and 

c. they have paid other sums due that are not covered by housing benefit or universal credit 
(housing element). 

 
The landlord should make every effort to establish effective ongoing liaison with housing benefit 
departments and the DWP and, with the tenant’s consent, make direct contact with the relevant 
housing benefit department or DWP office before taking enforcement action. 
 
The landlord and tenant should work together to resolve any housing benefit or universal credit 
(housing element) problems. 
 
Bearing in mind that rent arrears may be part of a general debt problem, the landlord should advise 
the tenant to seek assistance from citizens advice bureaux, debt advice agencies or other 
appropriate agencies as soon as possible. Information on debt advice is available on the Money 
Advice Service website. 
 
After service of statutory notices 
 
After service of a statutory notice, but before the issue of proceedings, the landlord should make 
reasonable attempts to contact the tenant to discuss: the amount of the arrears; the cause of the 
arrears; repayment of the arrears; and the housing benefit or universal credit (housing element) 
position. The landlord should send the tenant a copy of this protocol. 
 
If the tenant complies with an agreement to pay the current rent and a reasonable amount towards 
arrears, the landlord should agree to postpone issuing court proceedings for so long as the tenant 
keeps to such agreement. If the tenant ceases to comply with such an agreement, the landlord 
should warn the tenant of the intention to bring proceedings and give the tenant clear time limits 
within which to comply again and avoid proceedings. 
 
Alternative dispute resolution 
 

Page 15



The parties should consider whether it is possible to resolve the issues between them by discussion 
and negotiation without recourse to litigation. The parties may be required by the court to provide 
evidence that alternative means of resolving the dispute were considered. Courts take the view that 
litigation should be a last resort, and that claims should not be issued prematurely when a 
settlement is still actively being explored. 
 
The Civil Justice Council and the Judicial College have endorsed The Jackson ADR Handbook by 
Susan Blake, Julie Browne, and Stuart Sime (2013, Oxford University Press). The Citizens Advice 
Bureaux website also provides information about ADR: 
 

 the Civil Mediation Council 

 the Citizens Advice website 
 
Court proceedings 
 
Not later than ten days before the date set for the hearing of the possession claim, the landlord 
should– 
 

a. provide the tenant with up-to-date rent statements; and 
 

b. disclose what knowledge it possesses of the tenant’s housing benefit or universal credit 
(housing element) position to the tenant. 

 
The landlord should inform the tenant of the date and time of any court hearing and provide an up-
to-date rent statement and the terms of the order that will be applied for. The landlord should advise 
the tenant to attend the hearing as the tenant’s home is at risk. Records of such advice should be 
kept. 
 
If the tenant complies with an agreement made, after the issue of proceedings, to pay the current 
rent and a reasonable amount towards arrears, the landlord should agree to adjourn the court 
proceedings for so long as the tenant keeps to such agreement. 
 
If the tenant ceases to comply with such agreement, the landlord should warn the tenant of the 
intention to restore the proceedings and give the tenant clear time limits within which to comply 
again and avoid restoration of the proceedings. 
 
If the landlord unreasonably fails to comply with the terms of this protocol, the court may make one 
or more of the following orders– 
 

a. an order for costs. 
 

b. an order adjourning the claim; or 
 

c. an order striking out or dismissing the claim (other than a claim based on a mandatory 
ground). 

 
If the tenant unreasonably fails to comply with the terms of this protocol, the court may take such 
failure into account when considering whether it is reasonable to make a possession order. 
 
Part 3: Mandatory Grounds for Possession 
 
This Part applies in cases where, if a social landlord proves its case, the court must, in principle, 
grant possession and where s.89(1) Housing Act 1980 applies 

Page 16



 
Before issuing any such possession claim a social landlord— 
 

a. should write to the occupants explaining why it currently intends to seek possession and 
requiring the occupants, within a specified time, to notify the landlord in writing of any 
personal circumstances or other matters which they wish to have taken into account. In 
appropriate cases, such a letter could accompany any notice to quit or notice seeking 
possession and so would not necessarily delay the issue of proceedings; and 
 

b. should consider any representations received and, if they decide to proceed with a claim for 
possession, give brief written reasons for doing so. 

 
The social landlord should include with its claim form, or in any witness statement filed under CPR 
55.8(3), a schedule stating— 
 

a. whether it has (by a statutory review procedure or otherwise) invited the defendant to make 
representations of any personal circumstances or other matters which they wished to be 
taken into account before the social landlord issued the proceedings. 
 

b. if representations were made, whether and how they were considered and with what 
outcome; and 
 

c. brief reasons for bringing proceedings. 
 
Copies of any relevant documents which the social landlord wishes the court to consider in relation 
to the proportionality of the landlord’s decision to bring the proceedings should be attached to the 
schedule. 
 
RECENT INFORMATION 
 
Following the informal working group held in March, Members raised a series of questions to be 
answered ahead of the next Panel meeting. 
 
 

 Do we know the number of Council tenancies in arrears with COVID-19 recognised as a reason 
for financial difficulties due to job losses, furlough etc? 

 
No, we would log this individually on the tenant’s diary notes and is taken into account/noted on 
equality and proportionality checklists, if enforcement action is being considered. However, we 
do not keep a centralised log.  

 

 Do we have a comparative figure for tenancy debt now compared to pre-covid? 
 

Arrears at Week 51 (Start of first lockdown – 2019/20) 
 

2018/2019 Current Tenants £396,485.43 (UC 
- £107,845.11) 

Former Tenants £197,097.31. 

2019/20 Current Tenants £455,790.42 (UC 
– £271,878.40) 

Former Tenants £261,094.01 (as 
at March 2020) 

2020/21 Current Tenants £469,046.98 (UC 
- £316,950.74) 

Former Tenants £265,568.27 (as 
at March 2021) 

 
Arrears at Week 13 (latest rent week) 

Page 17



 

2019/20 Current Tenants £365,496.53 (UC 
- £148,989.16) 

Former Tenants £231,039.42 
(June 2019) 

2020/21 Current Tenants £468,333.32 (UC 
- £312, 782.55) 

Former Tenants £283,027.40 
(June 2020) 

2021/22 Current Tenants £420,342.64 (UC 
- £271,526.67) 

Former Tenants £321,417.08 (as 
at 28 June 2021) 

 
 

 Do we actively work with the Private Sector to scope solutions to waiting lists and if so how (In 
February we were trying to recruit a landlord Liaison Officer)? 

 
Yes. We have a part time landlord liaison officer funded through MHCLG Rough Sleeper 
Initiative Funding. The officer’s role is to engage with landlords and lettings agents, with a view 
to making properties available for homeless applicants and those threatened with 
homelessness.  
 
We are expanding on this with a further 2 Early Intervention Officers being appointed, one to 
focus on finding more private landlords and private renting opportunities, the other to get 
upstream in respect of identifying and assisting those at risk of homelessness. Another role we 
are introducing, an Assertive Outreach Officer, they will assist in meeting the support needs of 
the increasing vulnerable applicants who are applying as homeless.  

 

 What has been the impact of the last 16 months on the housing waiting list? 
 

Number of applicants on the Housing Register is 3903, a few hundred higher than 12 months 
ago. However, what we have seen is a significant increase the average number of bids per 
property. Each 2-bed flat is now averaging 150+ bids. The Housing Register is reviewed on a 
regular basis and so whilst we do have a high number of new applications, typically 50 per 
week, we are also closing applications.  

 

 Have we seen more people entering temporary accommodation? 
 

The number of temporary accommodation units was increased following the onset of the 
pandemic and the everyone in directive. We have retained all the units for the time being as we 
are expecting a surge in demand for temporary accommodation now that the moratorium on 
evictions has ended and landlords will start to recover possession of their homes. How much 
demand will surge is as yet unknown.  

 

 Do we have a comprehensive figure for homelessness in Ashfield? 
 

 06 July 2020 06 July 2021 

Households owed the 
Prevention Duty 

44 52 

Households owed the Relief 
Duty 

34 42 

Households in temporary 
accommodation 

33 39 

Main Duty owed but not yet 
discharged 

30 27 

Snapshot of rough sleepers in 
Ashfield (taken from number 

2 to 4 3 to 6 

Page 18



of individuals seen by the 
Street Outreach Team on a 
particular night) 

 
 

 Are we seeing a benefit to the Selective Licensing Scheme? 
 

Selective licensing has improved the management and maintenance of private rented properties 
in the 2 designated areas – New Cross and Stanton Hill. However, problems in the area do 
persist. The SL scheme is due to come to an end in Feb 2022 and we are about to commence a 
review of the scheme to determine if it should be extended or ended.  

 

 How are we approaching under occupancy? Is there any way to link incentives such as the 
distribution of new bungalows to those currently under occupying family homes? 

 
Housing applicants who are under occupying a council or housing association property in the 
District are given priority to move to alternative accommodation. As and when we get to the 
position of allocating the new bungalows being developed by the Council at the Beeches and 
Poplars we will considered existing ADC tenants who are under occupying and who need that 
type of accommodation.  
 

NEXT STEPS 
 
A scrutiny review of Tenancy Support was originally approved to the Scrutiny Workplan to ensure 
that when the government enforced restrictions on evictions ceased, Ashfield residents receive 
appropriate support and advice on maintaining their tenancy and money management.  
 
Following the last meeting of the Panel and subsequent informal group meeting, Members have 
raised a number of additional areas of consideration. These include; 
 

 Housing register waiting times 

 Homelessness 

 Engaging with the private sector 
 
To ensure that consideration of tenancy issues remains focussed, Members of the Panel are 
requested to discuss any further areas for consideration related to tenancy support. It should be 
noted that if Members wish to expand the scope to include any of the above issues, the Terms of 
Reference for the review will need to be amended.  
 
Implications 
 
Corporate Plan: 
 
The Council’s Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023 sets out key priorities and ambitions to be achieved over 
the coming years. Under the Homes and Housing vision, the following desired outcomes are set 
out: 
 

 Assist tenants with welfare and monetary advice to increase tenancy sustainment 

 Maintain and increase positive preventative action 

 Increase tenancy sustainment by offering appropriate tenancy support  
 
Legal: 

Page 19



 
Panel Members will explore the legislative requirements the Council must adhere to regarding all 
aspects of tenancy support as part of the review process.  
 
Finance: 
 
There are no direct financial implications resulting from this report. Any financial implications 
identified over the course of this review will be explored and addressed appropriately. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk: 
 
No risks have been identified at this stage of the scrutiny review process.  
 
Human Resources: 
 
There are no HR implications resulting from this report. Any HR implications identified over the 
course of this review will be explored and addressed appropriately. 
 
Environmental/Sustainability: 
 
There are no environmental/sustainability implications resulting from this report. Any 
environmental/sustainability implications identified over the course of this review will be explored 
and addressed appropriately. 
 
Equalities: 
 
There are no equalities implications resulting from this report. Any equalities implications identified 
over the course of this review will be explored and addressed appropriately. 
 
Other Implications: 
 
There are no other implications resulting from this report. Any other implications identified over the 
course of this review will be explored and addressed appropriately. 
 
Reason(s) for Urgency  
 
None. 
 
Reason(s) for Exemption 
 
None.  
 

Budget Area Implication 
 

General Fund – Revenue Budget 
 

None. 

General Fund – Capital 
Programme 

Housing Revenue Account – 
Revenue Budget 

Housing Revenue Account – 
Capital Programme 

Page 20



Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Report Author and Contact Officer 
 
Shane Wright 
Scrutiny Research Officer 
01623 457318 
shane.wright@ashfield.gov.uk 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To receive the minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 18 February 2021.
	4 Scrutiny Review: Tenancy Support.

